
APPROVED MINUTES 

Page 1 of 4 – April 23, 2025 Village Board of Trustees – Committee of the Whole Meeting 

VILLAGE OF ANTIOCH BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 

Village of Antioch, Lake County, Illinois 
Municipal Building: 874 Main Street, Antioch, IL 60002 

April 23, 2025 
 
I.  CALL TO ORDER 
 Mayor Gartner called the April 23, 2025 Committee of the Whole meeting of the Board of 
Trustees to order at 7:05 pm at the Antioch Municipal Building located at 874 Main Street, Antioch, IL 
and via Zoom. 
 
II.  ROLL CALL 

Roll call indicated the following Trustees were present: Burman, Bluthardt, McNeill, Pierce, 
Macek and Pedersen.  Also present were Mayor Gartner, Attorney Vasselli, Administrator Guttschow 
and Clerk Romine.  
 
*indicates attendance via Zoom. 
 
III.  Absent Trustees Wishing to Attend Remotely 

There were no Trustees wishing to attend remotely. 
 
IV.  Mayoral Report –  

 None. 
 
Citizens Wishing to Address the Board 
 None. 
 
V.  Regular Business 

1. Approval of the April 9, 2025 Committee of the Whole meeting minutes as  
presented -  Trustee Burman moved, seconded by Trustee Bluthardt, to approve the April 9, 2025 
Committee of the Whole meeting minutes as presented. 
Upon roll call, the vote was: 
YES:  6: Burman, Bluthardt, McNeill, Pierce, Macek and Pedersen. 
NO:  0. 
ABSENT: 0. 
THE MOTION CARRIED. 
 

2. Engagement letter from Lauterbach & Amen to provide Auditing Services through the  
Fiscal Year Ending 2027 – Finance Director Peterson presented the proposed engagement letter with 
Lauterbach & Amen, stating that it will be difficult at this time to get on any other auditing schedules. 
 
This item will be placed on the next agenda for consideration. 
 

3. Discussion regarding an ordinance amending sections 4-2B-6 and 4-14-4 of the Antioch  
Village Code regarding licensees selling products containing Tetrahydrocannabinol – Mayor 
Gartner introduced the item for discussion based on the business owner addressing the board at a 
previous meeting. 
 

Trustee Bluthardt discussed the original intent of the ordinance in order to keep it out of the 
hands of kids, and hoped the State of Illinois would step up and regulate.  Attorney Vasselli is not 
aware of any update to the State taking action on the ban.   



APPROVED MINUTES 

Page 2 of 4 – April 23, 2025 Village Board of Trustees – Committee of the Whole Meeting 

Trustee Bluthardt discussed enforcement, and said he does not want to hurt businesses in 
town.  Mr. Adam Kosh said there is nothing currently before the State, but there is a senate bill 
proposed, and would require sales to be to those 21 and over.  Trustee Bluthardt said he will lean on 
the advice and recommendation of the police department in this case.  Chief Guttschow said there is 
currently no regulation on the age for this product, which is an initial concern.  He discussed other 
factors, such as the absorption level, and that effects may not be known for up to 2 hours after 
consumption. He also discussed issues with THC based enforcement. 
 

Trustee McNeill said the people she has spoken with are in favor of supporting the business and 
bringing it back, but she would like to make sure it is safe.  Mr. Kosh said the senate bill is only 
considering drink sales at this time.  Trustee McNeill asked if the other items the board is trying to 
prohibit could have different standards.  Attorney Vasselli confirmed that it can be amended. 
 

Mayor Gartner said the original ban was on Delta 8 and Kratom, and asked Mr. Kosh if there 
was a difference between the products that make Delta 9 unique.  Chief Guttschow said Delta 8, 
Kratom and Delta 9 are all natural based products to his knowledge.  He said Delta 8 is a hemp derived 
form of THC that doesn’t have any effects on its own until heat is applied.  The sales of these products 
are achieved through a loophole within the US Farm Bill.  Mayor Gartner mentioned section 4L of the 
ordinance which states “may be waived for products… by FDA, or have been deemed safe for use or 
consumption based on reliable evidence from a state or federal governmental agency or entity”.   
 

Attorney Vasselli commented on the ordinance amendments recently made and the non-home 
rule powers the Village may impose. Administrator Guttschow said they try to regulate them where we 
could through our licensure, and the best way to enforce this ban is through liquor and tobacco 
licensing procedures. 
 

Trustee Macek thinks the Board has lost its moral compass.  He said there is no way to train a 
bartender on this product, or on how to serve or manage how many drinks they have.  He added that 
Antioch Fine Wines was given a pouring license in order to have video gaming to offset the competition 
of other businesses, and he expressed concern with the impact it would have on local dispensaries. 
 

Trustee Pedersen asked if the ordinance extends the ban to Delta 9 which is more prevalent in 
liquid form.  She said the ordinance was put in place to protect the kids and the community and she 
cannot support changing the ban that was approved. 
 

Mayor Gartner added that there is no age restriction, but stores that don’t have a liquor or 
tobacco license could sell the product. 
 

Trustee Bluthardt asked if an age restriction could be placed on these products.  Attorney 
Vasselli said it could be looked into, but the reason it was placed on licenses is because the Village is 
non-home rule.  Trustee Bluthardt is concerned that other derivatives will come up and would like to 
gather more information. He would like to bring this back for discussion at another point after speaking 
with state legislators. 
 

Trustee Burman said there is a lot of pushback on hemp products at the State level, but thinks it 
will be awhile. 
 

Trustee Pierce discussed the expectation of adding more products to the ordinance and asked 
Mr. Kosh the impact this ban has on his business.  Mr. Kosh said it is growing at a very rapid pace, and 
they are being marketed very hard.  Without these sales, customers are going to other liquor stores in 
order to buy this product. 



APPROVED MINUTES 

Page 3 of 4 – April 23, 2025 Village Board of Trustees – Committee of the Whole Meeting 

Mayor Gartner said the Attorney, Mayor and staff will do additional research to bring this back to a 
future meeting. 
 

4. Discussion regarding Electronic Vehicle Charging Stations – Assistant Village  
Administrator Moran presented the updated proposed ordinance regarding electronic vehicle charging 
stations.  The proposed ordinance cleaned up language related to exclusive parking at EV charging 
stations, providing the ability to enforce spots exclusive to EV parking.  It also outlines the fees the 
Village is able to charge.  Attorney Vasselli outlined the jurisdictional authority to regulate parking in the 
IL vehicle code, allowing the municipality to impose fees to offset costs.  AVA Moran said some 
communities charge by KwH and some by hour, and they all appear to be $1-2 per hour. 
 

Trustee McNeill asked if a time limit could be imposed as well.  AVA Moran said the parking 
ordinances of the village would apply.  Chief Guttschow added that the state statute for disabled 
parking supersedes any EV parking regulations. 
 

This item will be placed on the next village board agenda for consideration. 
 
VI. Other Business 
 None. 
 
VII. Department Reports –  
Assistant Village Administrator – Assistant Village Administrator (AVA) Moran announced that Kim 
Biederman is preparing to go the ISCS conference next month.  He said next month is the Lake County 
Partners Annual event, and provided an update on Visit Lake County Convention and Visitors Bureau 
which is launching a new arts website to promote the arts in Lake County.  He provided an update on 
SWALCO, stating that Walter Willis’ contract was extended for an additional 3 months.  He added that 
there will be an expense in the upcoming budget related to an upgrade to the speaker system at the 
bandshell.  He said staff is facing a tight deadline, and is looking to see if the board will support that in 
the budget in order to make a purchase prior to the budget approval.  AVA Moran said he has a call 
tomorrow with Congressman Schneider’s office to re-submit the request for a grant for downtown 
sidewalks. 
 
Parks – Director Kotloski thanked AVA Moran for his assistance with upcoming events.  She also 
thanked the Board for approving the Centennial Park proposal and for those able to attend the Easter 
celebration.  She announced that day camp revenue is up 11% and aquatic center revenue is up 5% 
from the same period last year.  Staff is preparing for the June 7 wine walk, kickoff concert, 4th of July 
celebration and Mother Daughter Bingo. 
 
Public Works – Director Heimbrodt provided an update on landscaping and cleanup of Village 
properties and right-of-ways by public works staff.  They have started to prepare the pool for opening of 
the season, and are 95% complete with hydrant flushing.  He discussed projects such as the Deep 
Lake road project with Lake County DOT, and said the north portion has been postponed again due to 
land acquisition issues. He discussed the IDOT project from Keystone in Richmond to Wilmot Road, 
which will consist of millwork; Wilmot to Osmond is mostly drainage work.  Repaving is scheduled for IL 
Route 173 from Hunt Club to Brown Avenue, and expected to start at the end of April/beginning of May.  
Finally, he announced that staff is working to finalize the 2025 road program. 
 
VIII. EXECUTIVE SESSION –  
 Trustee Bluthardt moved, seconded by Trustee Burman, to enter into executive session at 8:34 
pm to discuss personnel and pending/potential litigation.  Upon roll call, the vote was: 
YES:  6: Burman, Bluthardt, McNeill, Pierce, Macek and Pedersen. 



APPROVED MINUTES 

Page 4 of 4 – April 23, 2025 Village Board of Trustees – Committee of the Whole Meeting 

NO:  0. 
ABSENT: 0. 
THE MOTION CARRIED. 
 
 Trustee Burman moved, seconded by Trustee Pierce, to return from executive session at 9:19 
pm with no action taken.  Upon roll call, the vote was: 
YES:  6: Burman, Bluthardt, McNeill, Pierce, Macek and Pedersen. 
NO:  0. 
ABSENT: 0. 
THE MOTION CARRIED. 
 

Trustee Pierce moved, seconded by Trustee Pedersen to appoint Trustee Burman as mayor 
pro-tem.  Upon a voice vote, the motion carried. 
 
IX.  ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further discussion, the Village Board of Trustees Committee of the Whole meeting 
was adjourned by Mayor pro-tem Burman at 9:20pm 
 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
       ________________________ 
       Lori K. Romine, RMC/CMC 
       Village Clerk 
 


	I.  CALL TO ORDER

